(Legacy) DocuSign eSignature for Salesforce CPQ v2.1

Published: March 08, 2021

This guide applies to the standalone (legacy) DocuSign eSignature for Salesforce CPQ app.

This app is only recommended for customers using the Salesforce CPQ built-in quote document generation feature.

We recommend upgrading to the DocuSign Apps Launcher package of apps, which includes:

- DocuSign Gen for Salesforce
- DocuSign eSignature for Salesforce

These apps are the modern solutions for your CPQ quotegeneration and signing needs.

DocuSign will continue to support legacy users. The legacy app will no longer be developed, but we will continue to fix issues.

Legacy app downloads are available on this page.

Copyright

Copyright ©2003-2021 DocuSign, Inc. All rights reserved.

For information about DocuSign trademarks, copyrights and patents refer to the DocuSign Intellectual Property page (https://www.docusign.com/IP) on the DocuSign website. All other trademarks and registered trademarks are the property of their respective holders.

No part of this document may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic or mechanical, for any purpose, without the express written permission of DocuSign, Inc. Under the law, reproducing includes translating into another language or format. Every effort has been made to ensure that the information in this manual is accurate. DocuSign, Inc. is not responsible for printing or clerical errors. Information in this document is subject to change without notice.

Table of Contents

Install DocuSign Plugin for Salesforce CPQ	5
Assign Licenses to All Participating Users	6
Set Permissions for Users	7
Assign DocuSign CPQ Sender Permissions	8
Create a Quote Template Record	10
Add DocuSign AutoPlace Fields to a CPQ Template	12
Add Quote-Related Lists to Opportunity Page Layouts	14
Create a DocuSign Envelope Configuration for DFS CPQ	15
Name Envelope Configuration	15
Email Settings	
Add Recipients and Signing Groups	16
Add Documents and Templates	
(Optional) Add Custom Mappings	18 18
Add Custom Button to Salesforce Layout	
Envelope Configurations Basic Merge Fields for DFS CPQ	19
Assigning DocuSign Envelope Configurations to Salesforce CPQ	04
	21
Assign an Envelope Configuration to a Salesforce Quote Template	21
Send a Quote With a Salesforce CPQ Template	24
Set Up Payment Account	26
Step 1: Enable Payments in your DocuSign Account	
Step 2: Add Payment Gateway into Salesforce Org	
Step 3: Add Payment Fields to Quote Template Page Layout	

Step 4: Add Payment Fields to Quote Page Layout	29
Configure DFS CPQ and Salesforce CPQ for Payments	
Configure DFS CPQ Payment Settings	
Configure DFS CPQ Quote Template Settings	31
Create a DocuSign Envelope Configuration (Optional)	31

Install DocuSign Plugin for Salesforce CPQ

Follow these steps to install the DocuSign eSignature for Salesforce plugin in your Salesforce CPQ package:

- 1. Click the App Launcher grid
- 2. Click the DocuSign eSignature for Salesforce CPQ tile.
- 3. Click the Salesforce CPQ Settings tab.
- 4. In the header, select the Plugins tab.
- 5. Type dfscpq.Plugin in the Electronic Signature Plugin field.
- 6. Click the Save button.

DocuSign	for Sales	Home	DocuSign Admin	DocuSign CPQ Settings	Salesforce CPQ Settings	DocuSign Erwelop	oe Configura	~	Quotes \smallsetminus	Quote Templates $$	Template Content	~	More	- e	
Settings Editor Salesforce (CPQ											Save	Car	ncel	
Documents	Groups Line B	ditor	Plugins Pr	ricing and Calculation	Subscriptions and Renew	als Quote	Order	Add	itional Setting	s					
Lega	cy Page Security Plu	gin®				Electro	inic Signature	Plugi	n® dfscpq.P	lugin]				

The process is complete. The DocuSign eSignature for Salesforce CPQ plugin is now installed.

Assign Licenses to All Participating Users

- 1. Log into Salesforce as an Administrator.
- 2. Click the gear 💇 in the upper-right of the page.
- 3. Click Setup.
- 4. Type Installed Packages in the Quick Find field and click the Installed Packages link.
- 5. Click the DocuSign eSignature for Salesforce CPQ hyperlink. The Package Details page opens.
- 6. Click the Manage Licenses button.

DocuSign eSignature for Salesforce CPQ (Managed) Installed Package Detail Uninstall View Components Manage Licer

- 7. Add the user to the license.
- 8. Repeat steps 1 through 6 to assign user licenses for additional Managed Packages to be added from the Installed Packages list.

The process is complete. License rights have been granted to the proper users.

Set Permissions for Users

Important:

This guide applies to the standalone (Legacy) DocuSign eSignature for Salesforce app. This app has been de-listed from the Salesforce App Exchange. It has been replaced by the new DocuSign eSignature for Salesforce app from the DocuSign Apps Launcher package of apps.

DocuSign will continue to support legacy users. The legacy app will no longer be developed, but we will continue to fix issues.

To upgrade, install the new DocuSign eSignature for Salesforce app.

Salesforce Permission Sets need to be configured for all DocuSign eSignature for Salesforce CPQ users. Without the proper Permission Set membership, users will be unable to access the app. There are two Permission Sets that are added when the app is installed:

- DocuSign CPQ Administrator: Automatically granted to the installing administrator. This Permission Set grants full access to app functionality, including sending and managing settings and permissions. This Permission Set can be added to additional users and Profiles and is not limited to the installing admin.
- DocuSign CPQ Sender: Must be granted to a user or Profile by a DocuSign CPQ Administrator. This
 Permission Set allows users to send quotes through DocuSign.

Assign DocuSign CPQ Administrator Permissions

Users who require administrator access to the DocuSign eSignature for Salesforce CPQ app can be added to the **DocuSign CPQ Administrator** Permission Set.

Note: Only an existing **DocuSign CPQ Administrator** can add a user to the **DocuSign CPQ Administrator**Permission Set.

- 1. Click the gear in the upper-right of the page.
- 2. Click the Setup button.
- 3. Type Permission Sets in the Quick Find field in the upper-left.
- 4. Click the Permission Sets link that appears.
- 5. Click the DocuSign CPQ Administrator link.
- 6. Click the Manage Assignments button.
- 7. Select the Add Assignments button.

8. Check the box to the left of the user(s) you wish to add to the DocuSign CPQ Administrator Permission Set.

9. Click the Assign button.

Assign Users All User	S			
View:	ll Users	Edit Create New View		
			Ľ	Assign
Action	Full Name 🛧		Alias	Username
I Edit	Admin 2. DFS Testing		dadmi	dfs.cpg.payment.adm2@

10. Click the Done button.

11. Select the user's profile, and change the Opportunity Page Layout to the CPQ Opportunity Layout.

The process is complete. Selected users now have administrator access to the DocuSign eSignature for Salesforce CPQ app.

Assign DocuSign CPQ Sender Permissions

Important:

This guide applies to the standalone (Legacy) DocuSign eSignature for Salesforce app. This app has been de-listed from the Salesforce App Exchange. It has been replaced by the new DocuSign eSignature for Salesforce app from the DocuSign Apps Launcher package of apps.

DocuSign will continue to support legacy users. The legacy app will no longer be developed, but we will continue to fix issues.

To upgrade, install the new DocuSign eSignature for Salesforce app.

Users who require Sender access to the DocuSign eSignature for Salesforce CPQ app can be added to the **DocuSign CPQ Sender** Permission Set.

Note: Only an existing **DocuSign CPQ Administrator** can add a user to the **DocuSign CPQ Sender**Permission Set.

1. Click the gear **1** in the upper-right of the page.

- 2. Click the Setup button.
- 3. Type Permission Sets in the Quick Find field in the upper-left.
- 4. Click the Permission Sets link that appears.
- 5. Click the DocuSign CPQ Sender link.

6. Click the Manage Assignments button.

7. Select the Add Assignments button.

8. Check the box to the left of the user(s) you wish to add to the Negotiate Permission Set.

9. Click the Assign button.

A screen opens announcing: **Permission set DocuSign CPQ Sender has been assigned to (number of users selected).**

10. Click the Done button.

11. Select the user's profile, and change the Opportunity Page Layout to the CPQ Opportunity Layout.

The process is complete. Selected users now have sender access to the DocuSign eSignature for Salesforce CPQ app.

Create a Quote Template Record

- 1. Log into Salesforce as an Administrator.
- 2. Click the gear in the upper-right of the page.
- 3. Select Setup.
- 4. Type Object Manager in the Quick Find field.
- 5. Click the Object Manager link.
- 6. Click the Quote Template link in the left-hand Object Manager menu.
- 7. Click the Record Types link.
- 8. Click the New button in the upper-right of the page.

The Quote Template page opens.

- 9. Complete the following fields:
 - a. Existing Record Type: Leave as -Master-.
 - b. Record Type Label: Type DFS-CPQ in the text field.
 - c. Record Type Name: Field populates with DFS_CPQ. Do not change.
 - d. (Optional)Description: Type a description to explain the template purpose.
 - e. (Optional) Active: Check box to make the template available immediately.
 - f. (Optional) Enable for Profile: Check boxes to enable for specific Profiles.
 - g. (Optional) Make Default: Check boxes to make the default for a profile.

Record Type		L :	= Required Information
Existing Record TypeMaster ᅌ			
Record Type Label DFS-CPQ	<u> </u>		
Record Type Name DFS_CPQ	i		
Description DFS-CPQ Quote T	emplate for all Profiles		
Active 🗸			
Select the Enable for Profile checkbox to n to create records of this record type, or ass profile, select the Make Default checkbox.	nake the new record type available to a sign this record type to existing records.	profile. Users assigned to the To make the new record type	is profile will be able be the default for a
Profile Name	Record Types Currently Available	Enable for Profile	🗹 Make Default
Analytics Cloud Integration User	DFS-CPQ-2 (Default)		
Analytics Cloud Security User	DFS-CPQ-2 (Default)		

10. Click the **Next** button at the bottom-right of the screen. The Quote Template page opens.

Note: Keep the Apply one layout to all profiles radio button selected.

11. (Optional) Apply a different layout for each profile: Select this radio button to customize each page layout.

12. Click the **Save** button in the bottom-right of the page.

The process is complete. You now have a Quote Template Record to use for your payment configuration.

Add DocuSign AutoPlace Fields to a CPQ Template

AutoPlace fields (also called anchor tags) can be added to a CPQ quote template, so that when quote documents are generated, the anchor tag codes are replaced with the corresponding DocuSign fields, such as line items, signature fields, and terms and conditions.

Note: These steps assume you have already created a CPQ quote template and want to add AutoPlace fields to it. For more information about creating CPQ quote templates, see Building Your CPQ Documents with CPQ Templates on the Salesforce Help site.

Follow these steps to add AutoPlace fields to a quote template in DocuSign eSignature for Salesforce CPQ:

- 1. Log into Salesforce as an administrator.
- 2. Click the Quote Templates tab.
- 3. Click the name of the template to which you want to add AutoPlace fields.

4. Click the Related tab.

5. Click the template name to which anchor tags will be added.

Note: In this example, it's the Signature link. DocuSign for Sales... DocuSign CPQ Settings Salesforce CPQ Settings Home DocuSign Admin DocuSign Envelope Configura... 🗸 Quotes 🗸 Quote Templates More 8 Duote Template New Import Change Owner Recently Viewed 🔻 Q Search this list.. **.** • G . C ¢ 1 item \cdot Updated a few seconds ago ✓ Page Orientation Template Name ✓ Default Created By ✓ Last Modified By Signature 1 Portrait DFS Payment and CPO Testing Admin DFS Payment and CPO Testing Admin -

6. Click the Template Bottom link on the Details tab.

E Template S Signatu	Section I re		
Related	Details		
Section Name Signature			Template Signature
Top Margin 🕚 0.00			Content Template Bottom

7. Click the Edit button.

8. Place the DocuSign AutoPlace codes (anchor tags) for the fields you want to add to the template.

Note: Be sure to make the color of the anchor text the same color as your template (usually white). This prevents the tags from being visible on the generated document.

Template Bottom				
	Save	ncel		
Template Content				
Content Name Font Family Text Color	Template Bottom 🔚		Type Font Size	HTML
Markup	B I	◆ か) Q. 23 第 歩- 日 二 年 年 199 臣 主 三 第 47 (**) nt → Size → ▲- 図- 次 回	η Ξ Ω	
	[templat_SBQNotet] (templat_SBQNotet) (templat_SBQTermsConditionTitlet) (templat_SBQTermsConditionc)			
	Signature:	ul)	Effective Date:	Vd1V
	Name (Print):	\n1\		

The resulting tags on the finished document are shown in the image below:

	PART #	DESCRIPTION		UNIT	DISC (%)	EXTENDED
1.00	GC5060	GenWatt Gasoline 2000kW	\$	1,500.00	15.00	\$1,275.00
1.00	IN7080	Installation: Industrial - High	1.0	\$850.00		\$850.00
1.00	SL9080	SLA: Platinum		\$400.00		\$400.00
		*			TOTAL:	\$2,525.00
Signat Name	lure: (Print):	Sign Full Name	Effective Date:	Date	Signed	

9. Click the Save button.

The process is complete. When a new quote is created, AutoPlace tags populate DocuSign signature fields from your connected account. For more information on anchor tags, see Automatic Anchor Tags and Recipient Signer Roles on the DocuSign support site.

Add Quote-Related Lists to Opportunity Page Layouts

After installing all prerequisites, add the necessary quote-related objects to your Opportunity page layout.

- 1. Log into Salesforce as an Administrator.
- 2. Click the gear 🔯 in the upper-right of the page.
- 3. Select Setup.
- 4. Type Object Manager in the Quick Find field.
- 5. Click the Object Manager link.
- 6. Click the Opportunity link in the Object Manager menu.
- 7. Click the Page Layouts link.
- 8. Click a link to be edited under the Page Layout Name header.
- 9. Click the Related Lists menu link.
- **10.** Drag the following items to the Opportunity page layout:
 - Quotes
 - Products
 - Quote Documents
- 11. Click the Save button in the upper-left of the Opportunity page layout.

SETUP > OBJECT MANAGER						
opportunity						
	Save V Quick Save Prev	view As V Cancel	o 🐴 Redo 📄 📻 La	yout Properties		
Details	Custom Links	Quick Find Related	List Name	×		
	Quick Actions	Accounts	Campaign Influence	Content Deliveries	Notes & Attachments	Products
Fields & Relationships	Actions	Activity History	Cases	Contracts	Open Activities	Quote Documents
B	Expanded Lookups	Additional Documents	Competitors	DocuSign Status	Orders	Quotes
Page Layouts	Related Lists	Approval History	Contact Roles	Files	Partnero	Quotes
Lightning Record Pages	Report Charts					
Lightning Record Pages	Visualforce Pages		_			
Buttons Links and Actions						
battons, Enno, and retons				/ /		
Compact Layouts	Related Lists					
Field Sets	Quotes		New	Change Owner		
	Quote Number	Net Amount	St	atus	Created By	Pri
Object Limits	Sample Text	\$123.45	Sa	imple Text	Sarah Sample	√
Record Types		4				
	Products		Add F	Product Add Products E	dit Products Edit All Choo	se Price Book Sort Sor
Related Lookup Filters	Product	Qua	ntity	Sales Price		Date
Conset Laurante	Sample Text	813	.19	\$123.45		10/16/2019
Search Layouts						
Search Layouts for Salesforce						
Classic	Ouete Desuments		Marriel	Channes Original		
Classic	Quote Documents	r	New	Cuange Owner		
Triggers	Document Name					
	Sample Text					

The process is complete. The necessary items are now present in the Opportunity page layout.

Create a DocuSign Envelope Configuration for DFS CPQ

DocuSign custom buttons can be added to Salesforce object pages with the DocuSign Envelope Configuration feature. This process enables administrators to easily create custom buttons in the user interface, without having to use scripting.

Name Envelope Configuration

Step one of the process involves initiating the Envelope Configuration process and giving the configuration a unique name. This name should easily convey the purpose of the configuration to other users in your Salesforce org.

1. Click the App Launcher grid

- 2. Click the DocuSign eSignature for Salesforce CPQ tile from the App Launcher menu.
- 3. Click the DocuSign Envelope Configurations tab.
- 4. Click the New button to create a new DocuSign Envelope Configuration.
- 5. Type a name in the DocuSign Envelope Configuration Name field.
- 6. Click the Save button.

A banner notifies: DocuSign Envelope Configuration "(your configuration name)" was created.

Step one of the process is complete. You have initiated and named a new DocuSign Envelope Configuration. Move to step two to select the main Salesforce object (Account, Opportunity, etc.) from which the configuration will import data.

Select Salesforce Object

Step two of the process involves selecting the Salesforce parent object (Account, Opportunity, etc.) from which data will be imported.

- 1. Click the Salesforce Object dropdown menu to the right of the Name field.
- 2. Scroll to the Object you need and click it to select.

Note: You can also type in the Salesforce Object field to jump to an object in the list.

•	DocuSign Envelope Configuration Fresh Software Sales Contract		
Name	Fresh Software Sales Contract	Salesforce Object	Opportunity 🔽

Step two of the process is complete. The Salesforce Object (Account, Opportunity, etc.) is selected and the Envelope Configuration can now access fields relating to that object. Proceed to step three to customize the email message and add optional reminders.

Email Settings

Step three of the process involves creating the Custom Email Subject and Custom Email Message for the Envelope Configuration. This text will be seen by each envelope recipient whenever this configuration is used.

- 1. Custom Email Subject: Type a custom subject for the Email.
- 2. Custom Email Message: Type a custom message for the Email.
- 3. (Optional): Reminder Email Settings
 - Reminder Enabled: Check this box to set:
 - Days before sending first reminder: Type a number of days to wait before a reminder is sent.
 - Days between reminders: Type a number of days to wait between sending reminders.
 - Expire Enabled: Check this box to set:
 - Days before envelope expires: Type a number of days to wait before the envelope expires.
 - Days to warn signers before expiration: Type a number of days to wait before recipients are warned.

Step three of the process is complete. Custom email settings are added. The email subject, email message and any reminders will be applied to any envelopes using this configuration. Proceed to step four to add the individuals and Signing Groups who will receive envelopes from the configuration.

Add Recipients and Signing Groups

Step four of the process involves adding recipients to the Envelope Configuration. This ensures that the correct people will receive envelopes in the correct signing order.

1. Click the Add Recipient button.

2. Choose from the menu:

- Quick Add: The New Recipient dialog opens. Enter information for:
 - a. Enter recipient information for First Name, Last Name, Email and Role.
 - b. Action: Select a recipient action from the dropdown list:
 - Needs to Sign: Must sign the envelope.
 - Receives a Copy: Does not sign, but receives a copy of the completed envelope.
 - Specify Recipients: Can fill in the names and email addresses of other recipients.
 - Allow to Edit: Can make changes to the document.
 - Update Recipients: Can edit the details of any remaining recipients in the document.
 - c. (Optional): Authentication: Add a recipient phone number to enforce multi-factor security.
 - d. (Optional): Private Message: Write an additional message that only this recipient can see.
 - e. Click the Save Recipient button to add the recipient to the configuration.
- Signing Group: The Select DocuSign Signing Group dialog opens.
 - a. Select Signing Group from the Add Recipient menu to add an existing group of recipients.
 - b. Type a group name into the Select DocuSign Signing Group field to add a group of recipients.
- **3. (Optional) Load Default Contacts**: Check this box to ensure that the default contacts for the Salesforce object type are loaded. These contacts will be loaded after the Custom Related Contacts.

Step four of the process is complete. Recipients are added to the Envelope Configuration. Proceed to step five to add documents to the configuration.

Add Documents and Templates

Step five of the process involves adding documents and templates to the Envelope Configuration. This is the content that is sent to recipients to review and sign.

- 1. Click the Add Document button.
- 2. Choose from the menu:
 - File Upload: Click to add a new document. The File Upload modal opens.
 - a. Click the Upload Files button to locate a document saved on your device, or drag files to the Or drop files button from File Explorer or Finder.
 - **b.** Click the **Done** button when the upload is complete.
 - DocuSign Template: Click to add a template to the configuration. The Select DocuSign Template modal opens.
 - a. Select a template and click the Add Template(s) button.
- 3. (Optional) Load Files: All files attached to the Salesforce Object are added to the envelope.

4. (Optional) Load Attachments: All items in Salesforce Notes & Attachments are added to the envelope.

Note: Load Attachments is typically used with the DocuSign Template option, because the documents are supplied by the template.

Step five of the process is complete. Documents and templates selected are added to the Envelope Configuration. Proceed to step six to add Custom Mappings to the configuration.

(Optional) Add Custom Mappings

Step six of the process is optional, and involves mapping a Salesforce Role to a DocuSign Role. For example, a Salesforce contact listed as **Decision Maker** can be tied to the DocuSign template Role of **Signer 1**.

- 1. Click the Add Map button.
- 2. Choose from the menu:
 - Add Role Mapping: Click to add a new role mapping. The New Custom Contact Role Mapping modal opens.
 - a. Salesforce Role: Type the name of an existing Salesforce Role.
 - b. DocuSign Role: Type the name of an existing Role in the connected DocuSign account.
 - c. Click the Save button.
 - Add Type Mapping: Click to tie a Role to a recipient action (Needs to Sign, Receives a Copy, etc.) The New Custom Contact Type Mapping modal opens.
 - a. Role: Type the name of a Salesforce Role.
 - b. Type: Select a signer action from the dropdown menu. (Needs to Sign, Receives a Copy, etc.)
 - c. Click the Save button.

Step six of the process (optional) is complete. Role and Type mappings link Salesforce Roles with Roles from the connected DocuSign account. Proceed to step seven (optional) to add or remove options from the user interface.

(Optional) Review Screen Appearance and Functionality

Step seven of the process is optional and involves customizing the options that will appear for users interacting with the Envelope Configuration.

	Review Screen Appearance and Functionality	
Show Tag Button	Show Send Button	Show Chatter Settings
Show Remind Expire	Show Email Subject	Show Email Message
One Click Option	Advanced Decemptors	
Edit	Advanced Parameters	

Check or uncheck the boxes for any of the following:

- Show Tag Button: Display tags in the user interface.
- Show Send Button: Give the user an option to manually select the Send button.
- Show Chatter Settings: Enable viewing Chatter content.

- Show Remind Expire: Display Reminder and Expiration fields.
- Show Email Subject: Allow editing of the Email Subject line.
- Show Email Message: Allow editing of the Email message contents.
- One Click Option: Choose Edit, Send or Tag in the dropdown to allow fast sending.
- Advanced Parameters: Allow adding customized envelope contacts.

Step seven of the process (optional) is complete. Options are added or removed from the Envelope Configuration user interface. Proceed to step eight (final) of the process to add the Envelope Configuration custom button to Salesforce object layouts.

Add Custom Button to Salesforce Layout

Step eight of the process involves adding an envelope configuration custom button to a Salesforce object layout.

In the upper-right of the page, click a button from the Add to Object Layout header:

- Add Classic Button: Add the Envelope Configuration button to a Salesforce Classic page layout.
 - a. Click Add Classic Button
 - **b.** Check the box for any Salesforce object to which the button should be added.
 - c. Click the Add to Layout button.
- Add Lightning Button: Add the Envelope Configuration button to a Salesforce Lightning page layout.
 - a. Click Add Lightning Button
 - **b.** Check the box for any Salesforce object to which the button should be added.
 - c. Click the Add to Layout button.

A banner notifies: Success: DocuSign Envelope Configuration successfully saved.

The process is complete. All steps of the Envelope Configuration process have been completed. The Envelope Configuration button is now available on any Salesforce object layouts to which it was added. Users can initiate a pre-configured signature process with the click of a button.

Envelope Configurations Basic Merge Fields for DFS CPQ

Per a customer request, Envelope Configurations should have a "Sending User" recipient type. Customers lost the ability to achieve this leveraging CRL and URL/ Javascript custom buttons which is not an option for them since they are trying to use this with Envelope Configurations + CPQ.

1. Click the App Launcher grid

- 2. Click the DocuSign eSignature for Salesforce CPQ tile from the App Launcher menu.
- 3. Click the DocuSign Envelope Configurations tab.
- 4. Click the name of an existing DocuSign Envelope Configuration.

5. Click the Advanced Parameters link at the bottom of the page, under the Review Screen Appearance and Functionality header.

		🌣 Review Screen Appearance	e and Functionality
Show Tag Button		Show Send Button	Show Chatter Settings
Show Remind Expire		Show Email Subject	Show Email Message
One Click Option Edit	•	Advanced Parameters	

The Manage Advanced Parameters modal opens.

- 6. Click the plus 🙂 button in the lower-right.
- 7. Select CRL (Custom Recipient List) from the Name dropdown menu:

Note: Merge fields will be supported only for the following fields:

- Email subject & message (CES/CEM)
- CRL email, first name, last name, type, role, access code, SMS phone number, note, in-person signer, and signing group

Click here for more information about customized envelope contacts.

8. Enter merge field syntax in the text field under the Value header.

Supported syntax:

- {!\$User.XX} Current user properties. Example: {!\$User.Email}
- {!\$Organization.XX} Current org properties. Example: {!\$Organization.Phone}
- {!Object.Field} Source object properties. Example: {!Opportunity.Name}
- {!Object.Lookup.Field} Master object properties via lookup. Example: {!Opportunity.Account.Name}

		Manage Advanced Parameters		
Name		Value		
CRL	Ŧ	(!\$User.Email)	×	
Save				
				÷

Note: Values that resolve as NULL, or merge fields that cannot be resolved will result in an empty string replacement. FLS is enforced for the query via SOQL "WITH SECURITY_ENFORCED" clause.

9. Click the Save button.

A banner notifies: Success DocuSign Envelope Configuration successfully saved.

The process is complete. The DocuSign Envelope Configuration is updated with Salesforce merge fields.

Assigning DocuSign Envelope Configurations to Salesforce CPQ Templates

Important:

This guide applies to the standalone (Legacy) DocuSign eSignature for Salesforce app. This app has been de-listed from the Salesforce App Exchange. It has been replaced by the new DocuSign eSignature for Salesforce app from the DocuSign Apps Launcher package of apps.

DocuSign will continue to support legacy users. The legacy app will no longer be developed, but we will continue to fix issues.

To upgrade, install the new **DocuSign eSignature for Salesforce** app.

DocuSign Envelope Configurations are built to standardize an envelope configuration for repeated use. They can also be matched with Salesforce CPQ templates for further streamlining repeated use. They can also be matched with Salesforce CPQ templates for further streamlining of the quote-and-sign process. Salesforce administrator access is required to perform these actions, as well as DocuSign administrator access. null

Creating a Salesforce CPQ template

Step one of the process involves creating a Salesforce CPQ template with which your DocuSign Envelope Configuration will be used.

- 1. Click the App Launcher grid
- 2. Click the Salesforce CPQ tile from the App Launcher menu.
- 3. Select Quote Templates tab.
- 4. Click the New button to create a quote template.

5. Refer to the Salesforce article on Building Your CPQ Documents with CPQ Templates for more information.

The first step of the process is complete. You have created your CPQ template. Proceed to step two to assign a DocuSign Envelope Configuration to your Salesforce CPQ template.

Assign an Envelope Configuration to a Salesforce Quote Template

Step two of the process involves selecting an existing DocuSign Envelope Configuration to assign to your new Salesforce CPQ template.

Note: You need to create at least one DocuSign Envelope Configuration to perform this task.

1. Click the DocuSign eSignature for Salesforce CPQ tab.

2. Click the Edit Settings button in the DocuSign Envelope Configuration section.

The Envelope Configuration Settings window opens.

3. Select a configuration from the Select DocuSign Envelope Configuration dropdown.

E	Edit Settings	1
	Select DocuSign Envelope Configuration	
~	Please Select	
	Default	
	your configuration name	1

4. Click the Save button.

A banner notifies: Successfully saved configuration.

5. Click the X button to close the window.

Note: If you have multiple quote templates, you can make and assign a different DocuSign Envelope Configuration for each template.

6. Click the Edit Mappings button in the Quote Templates section.

The Quote Template Mappings page opens.

- 7. Select Quote Template: Select a template name from the dropdown.
- 8. Select DocuSign Envelope Configuration: Select a configuration name from the dropdown.

	ote lempi	ate Map	pings		
Active Mappings					
QUOTE TEMPLATE	~	DOCUSIG	N ENVELOR	PE CONFI	GU 🗸
Edit Mappings					
Edit Mappings *Select Quote Template					
Edit Mappings *Select Quote Template 30 Day 2%					:
Edit Mappings *Select Quote Template 30 Day 296 *Select DocuSign Envelope C	onfiguration				¢

9. Click the Save button.

A banner notifies: Mappings updated successfully.

10. Click the *index* button to close the window.

Step two of the process is complete. A DocuSign Envelope Configuration is assigned to your Salesforce Quote template. This configuration pairing can now be used to send an envelope to recipients.

Send a Quote With a Salesforce CPQ Template

Salesforce CPQ templates paired with DocuSign Envelope Configurations can be used to send an envelope to recipients. This ensures that the correct DocuSign and Salesforce CPQ settings will be used each time the configuration is used.

- 1. Select Quotes from App Menu.
- 2. Select a quote to be sent.
- 3. Click the arrow 💌 to the right of the Clone button in the upper-right of the page. A dropdown menu expands.

Note: The button name may be different, but the arrow placement will be the same.

4. Select Generate Document.



5. Click the arrow **v** and select the template to be used.



Optional: Click the Paper Size dropdown for a custom paper size.

Optional: Type a Document Name.

- 6. Click the Send with DocuSign button.
- 7. Click the Confirm button on the pop-up that asks Are you sure ...? The signature configuration page opens.

- **8.** Click the **Next** button in the lower-right of the page after making any needed adjustments to the envelope settings.
- 9. Drag-and-drop tags from the left-hand menu to the appropriate fields on the page.(Optional): Click the Preview link to get a final look at the document before sending.
- **10.** Click the **Send** button in the lower-left of the page.
- 11. The Documents Sent screen opens to notify you that the envelope was successfully delivered.

The process is complete. Your integrated Salesforce CPQ template and DocuSign Envelope Configuration have successfully been used to send an envelope to a recipient.

Set Up Payment Account

Important:

This guide applies to the standalone (Legacy) DocuSign eSignature for Salesforce app. This app has been de-listed from the Salesforce App Exchange. It has been replaced by the new DocuSign eSignature for Salesforce app from the DocuSign Apps Launcher package of apps.

DocuSign will continue to support legacy users. The legacy app will no longer be developed, but we will continue to fix issues.

To upgrade, install the new DocuSign eSignature for Salesforce app.

DocuSign eSignature for Salesforce now allows the addition of payment fields to quote templates accounts, enabling a recipient to sign and pay in the same interface. Organizations are required to have an active Electronic Signature Plugin as well as Salesforce CPQ Summer 19 and DocuSign eSignature for Salesforce CPQ 2.0 to utilize this feature.

Step 1: Enable Payments in your DocuSign Account

Step one of the process involves enabling the feature in your DocuSign account.

- 1. Log in to your DocuSign account as an Administrator.
- 2. Select the Admin tab at the top of the page.
- 3. Select the Payments link under the Integrations header in the left-hand navigation pane.
- 4. Select the Enable Payments button.
- 5. Select the Add button.
- 6. Select the Authorize.net option.
- 7. Enter a payment Name.
- 8. Authenticate with Salesforce Administrator credentials.
- 9. Select the Save button.
- 10. Record the Gateway Account ID value for later use.

Step one of the process is complete. The Payments option is enabled in your DocuSign account. Proceed to step two: Step 2: Add Payment Gateway into Salesforce Org

Step 2: Add Payment Gateway into Salesforce Org

Step two of the process involves choosing the payment authorization method with which your transactions will be processed.

- 1. Log into your Salesforce org as an Administrator.
- 2. Select the App Launcher grid .
- 3. Select the Salesforce Billing Configuration tile in the All Apps menu.
- **4.** Select the arrow **T** to the left of the **More** tab and select **Payment Gateways**, from the dropdown menu.

* 🖬 ? 🌣 🐥 🔇)				
∽ GL Rules ∨ More 🔽	0				
GL Treatments					
Finance Books	5				
Finance Periods					
Revenue Recognition Rules					
Revenue Recognition Treatments					
Revenue Distribution Methods					
Payment Gateways					

- 5. Select the New button in the upper-right of the page.
- 6. Enter: payments_salesforce in the Payment Gateway Name field.
- 7. Select: AuthorizeDotNet from the Gateway Type dropdown menu.

Note: Currently, only the Salesforce Authorize.Net payment type is supported.

8. Select the Save button.

Step two of the process is complete. The new payment gateway is present in your Salesforce org and can be used to allow payments. Proceed to step three: Step 3: Add Payment Fields to Quote Template Page Layout

Step 3: Add Payment Fields to Quote Template Page Layout

Step three of the process involves updating your Salesforce quote template page layouts so that the contain the payment fields.

- 1. Log into Salesforce as an Administrator.
- 2. Select the gear in the upper-right of the page.
- 3. Select Setup.
- 4. Enter Object Manager in the Quick Find field.
- 5. Select the Object Manager link.
- 6. Select the Quote Template link in the Object Manager menu.
- 7. Select the Page Layouts link.
- 8. Select the link for the layout to be modified under the Page Layout Name header.
- 9. Add the following items to the Quote Template page layout:
 - DocuSign Envelope Configuration
 - DocuSign Payment Gateway ID
- 10. Select the Save button in the upper-left of the Quote Template page layout.

SETUP > OBJECT MANAGER								
Quote Template								
	Save V Quick Save Prev	iew As 🔻 Cancel 🧔 L	Jndo 🔷 Redo 📔 🚍 Lay	out Properties				
Details	Fields	Quick Find Field	d Name	×				
Fields & Polationships	Buttons	→ Section	Bottom Margin	Company Fax	Company Slogan	Customer Discount	DocuSign Env	/elope
Fields & Relationships	Quick Actions	→■Blank Space	Company City	Company Name	Company State	Customer Discount	DocuSign Pay	ment
Page Lavouts	Mobile & Lightning	Bill To Title	Company Country	Company Phone	Company Street	Berault	Exclude Head	er &
	Expanded Lookups	Border Color	Company Email	Company Postal Code	Created By	Deproyment Status	Exclude Page	Numbers
Lightning Record Pages	Related Lists							
Buttons, Links, and Actions	Quote Template Det	ail		standard Buttons				Custom I
Compact Layouts				Edit Delete Clone Cha	nge Owner Change	Record Type Printable View	w Sharing	Translat
Field Sets	Information (Header vis DocuSign Envelope	ible on edit only) <u>Sample Text</u>				Default	1	
Object Limits	* Template Name	Sample lext				Logo Document Id	Sample Text	
	DocuSign Paymen	t Sample Text				Watermark ID	Sample Text	
Record Types	* Deployment Status	Sample Text						
	Generator Name	Sample Text						
Related Lookup Filters								

Step three of the process is complete. The DocuSign Envelope Configuration and DocuSign Payment Gateway ID fields are added to the Quote Template page layout. Proceed to step four: Step 4: Add Payment Fields to Quote Page Layout

Step 4: Add Payment Fields to Quote Page Layout

Step four of the process involves updating your Salesforce quote page layouts so that the contain the payment fields.

- 1. Enter Object Manager in the Quick Find field.
- 2. Select the Object Manager link.
- 3. Select the Quote link in the Object Manager menu.
- 4. Select the Page Layouts link.
- 5. Select the link for the layout to be modified under the Page Layout Name header.
- 6. Add the following items to the Quote Template page layout:
 - Collect Payment
 - Save Payment Method
- 7. Select the Save button in the upper-left of the Quote Template page layout.

SETUP > OBJECT MANAGER				
Quote				
	Save V Quick Save Previe	w As V Cancel	do \land Redo 📻 Layo	out Properties
Details	Fields	Quick Find Field	Name	\$
Fields & Relationshins	Buttons	Bill To City	Bill To State	Created By
relas a Relationships	Quick Actions	Bill To Country	Bill To Street	Customer Amount
Page Lavouts	Mobile & Lightning	Bill To Name	Collect Payment	Days Quote Open
age Layouts	Actions	Bill To Postal Code	Contracting Method	Default Template
Lightning Record Pages	Related Lists			
Buttons, Links, and Actions	Recalculating (Header n	ot visible)		
Compact Layouts				
Field Sets	Information (Header visil	ble on ezit only)		
Object Limits	🖻 Quote Number Primary	GEN-2004-001234		
•	Collect Payment	1		

Step four of the process is complete. The Collect Payment and Save Payment Method fields are added to the Quote page layout. Proceed to (optional) step five: Configure DocuSign eSignature for Salesforce and Salesforce CPQ for Payments

Configure DFS CPQ and Salesforce CPQ for Payments

The fifth part of the process involves configuring the DocuSign eSignature for Salesforce and Salesforce CPQ apps for payments.

- 1. Log into your Salesforce org as an Administrator.
- 2. Click the App Launcher grid
- 3. Click the DocuSign eSignature for Salesforce CPQ tile in the All Apps menu.
- 4. Click the DocuSign CPQ Settings tab.
- 5. Click the Salesforce CPQ Settings button to the right of the Electronic Signature Plugin header.
- 6. Click the Plugins header.
- 7. Type dfscpq.Plugin in the Electronic Signature Plugin field.

Note: If this field is already configured, click the Cancel button. No further action is needed.

8. Click the Save button.

Settings Ed Salesfo	ditor OTCE	CPQ							Save Cancel
Docume	ents	Groups	Line Editor	Plugins	Pricing and Calculation	Subscriptions and Renewals	Quote	Order	Additional Settings
Legacy	Page S	ecurity Plugi	in 🥝			Electronic Signature Plugin 🥝 df	cpq.Plugin		

The fifth part of the process is complete. You have successfully configured the DocuSign eSignature for Salesforce and Salesforce CPQ apps for payments. Proceed to step six: Configure Payment Settings

Configure DFS CPQ Payment Settings

The sixth part of the process involves enabling the payments feature and setting the authorization method.

- 1. Click the DocuSign CPQ Settings tab.
- 2. Click the Edit Settings button to the right of the Payment Settings header.
- 3. Click the Payments Enabled switch in the upper-left to activate the feature.
- 4. Select the Authorize.Net option under the Salesforce Billing Payment Gateway header.

Note: This requires prior installation of the **Salesforce Authorize.Net** billing package. This is currently the only payment option available.

	Payment Settings								
Payments enabled	layments enabled								
Payment Gateway	ys								
Name	DocuSign Payment Gateway ID	Salesforce Billing Payment Gateway							
Authorize.Net	4fd586c5-5f37-46a1-9869-cf921431fb67	AuthorizeDotNet_PaymentGateway_SFBilling							
		Cancel Save							

The sixth part of the process is complete. The payment pathways for DocuSign and Salesforce are configured. Proceed to step seven: Configure Quote Template Settings

Configure DFS CPQ Quote Template Settings

The seventh and final step of the process involves allowing the payment method to be set in the quote template.

- 1. Click the DocuSign CPQ Settings tab.
- 2. Click the Edit Settings button to the right of the Quote Template Settings header.
- 3. Under the DocuSign Envelope Configuration header, select an option from the dropdown menu, if necessary.
- 4. Select the Authorize.Net dropdown option under the Payment Gateway header.
- 5. Click the Save button.

Quote Template Mappings						
Quote Template	DocuSign Envelope Configuration	Payment Gateway				
Signature	new new	Authorize.Net				
		Cancel				

The seventh and final step of the process is complete. The quote template settings now allow for use of the Authorize.Net payment gateway. Your Salesforce org is now configured to allow your customers to pay you at signing, and to save their payment information on your Salesforce record page for future transactions.

Create a DocuSign Envelope Configuration (Optional)

This optional part of the process is configured only if you wish to use Payments in conjunction with a DocuSign Envelope Configuration. If so, follow these instructions to Assign DEC to CPQ Templates.

Send a Quote

This topic describes how to send a quote using DocuSign eSignature for Salesforce CPQ and Salesforce CPQ. The following steps assume you have successfully installed and configured Salesforce CPQ, DocuSign eSignature for Salesforce 7.0, and DocuSign eSignature for Salesforce CPQ.

Note: It's easy to confuse Salesforce CPQ quotes with standard Salesforce quotes. If you have both enabled, be sure that you are using the ones in the SBQQ namespace.

Follow these steps to send a quote:

- 1. Click the App Launcher grid
- 2. Click the Salesforce CPQ tile.
- 3. Click the Quotes tab.
- 4. Click the link of the quote you want to send under the Quote Number header.



5. In the upper right, click the arrow 🔽 and select the Generate Document option from the dropdown menu.



• **Template**: Choose a template to apply to the quote from the dropdown.

Note: Choose a quote template that has DocuSign AutoPlace fields (anchor tags) added.

- Paper Size: Select a paper size for the quote from the dropdown.
- Document Name: Type a new name for the generated document.



- 7. Click the **Preview** button in the upper right to see the documents to be sent. Click the **X** in the upper-right of the page to close the preview.
- 8. Click the Send with DocuSign button in the upper-right of the page.
- 9. Click the Confirm button on the Send with DocuSign modal.
- 10. Set up the envelope by adding recipients, additional documents, the message to recipients, and other settings.
- 11. Click the Next button. The DocuSign fields page opens.

Note: If a matching template for a document in the quote exists, you'll see a dialog asking whether to apply the template. Refer to the DocuSign eSignature for Salesforce User Guide for help with setting up and sending the quote envelope.

12. Add fields for each recipient by dragging tags from the left-hand navigation bar to the document.

🛃 🛃	Quote Document: Q-00016-20191018-0747 for Commercial Edison - MA 2020 - Phase II Envelope: DSE-0000000							
<	Documents for you	r DocuSign Sign	ature	0	ACTIONS +	RECIPIE	INT PREVIEW	SEND
•	Peter Procure	Ŧ	5 c 6 C	93% *				
Q S	earch Fields Standard Fields	×					🖉 Signature	
ş	🗾 Signature		Terms & Cenditions				Required Fiel	d
•	DS Initial		Signature: Effective D	No: Date Signe	d		Formatting	~
63	Legislamp		Name (Print): Full Name Terms & Conditions Please sign and email to DFS Payment and GPQ Testing Admin at d	s.cpq.payment.adm@dsx	tr.com		Data Label	~
	Date Signed						Tooltip	~

Note: If a matching template for a document in the quote exists, you'll see a dialog asking whether to apply the template. Refer to the DocuSign eSignature for Salesforce User Guide for help with setting up and sending the quote envelope.

13. Click the **Send** button to send the envelope.

The process is complete. The custom quote has been sent to the recipient(s).